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Preface 

 

Enforced Disappearances have long been a taint on the 

human rights record of Pakistan. Enforced Disappearances 

are, to this day, an alarmingly widespread and ongoing issue 

and are being committed with impunity in Pakistan and 

many parts of the world. 

  

This is an anthology of 10 stories of victims of enforced 

disappearances across Pakistan. Families of the enforced 

disappeared victims suffer in great agony when their loved 

ones disappear and make desperate attempts to find them. 

Waiting to find out about an enforced disappeared person’s 

fate and whereabouts means living in limbo. The family is 

provided with neither the closure of mourning nor a reason 

to stop hoping.  

 

The families belong to different parts of the country and have 

different circumstances surrounding the act of 

disappearance. However, each one of them goes through the 

same grief of losing a loved one, and the torture of not 

knowing the truth. The deep wounds inflicted by the State 

upon the families of the Disappeared, continue to play havoc 

on them psychologically, so much so that trauma and stigma 

ruin their relationships with communities and people, 

sometimes even decades after the incident. 

  

Defence of Human Rights seeks to shed light on this grave 

issue, which not only violates the various human, civil, 
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economic, social, and cultural rights of the victims and their 

families but also has a negative impact on communities as a 

whole by instilling fear and a sense of insecurity in them. 

  

The Defense of Human Rights of Pakistan aims to bring this 

issue to the frontline through a project supported by the 

Taiwan Foundation of Democracy, “to highlight the 

sufferings of the victims of Enforced Disappearance and to 

find a way forward to this grave human rights violation 

through publications;” in order to highlight this issue 

regarding the violation of fundamental rights in Pakistan. 

Thus, bringing it into the eyes of every conscientious citizen 

who can play a role in finding a solution to this burning issue.   
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About Defence of Human Rights 

 

Defence of Human Rights and Public Service Trust Pakistan 

or simply DHR is an independent non-governmental, non-

profit organization that was born out of the personal 

experience of the victims of enforced disappearance, which 

is a form of torture not only for the victims but for the 

families of the victims as well. 

  

Our prime work involves striving for freedom, democracy 

and the rule of law through a three-step strategy, i.e. 

research, awareness and action (such as providing legal and 

economic aid) for the victims of enforced disappearance and 

torture. Providing such aid is possible only in a democratic 

political system in which the government is accountable to 

its own people; the rule of law prevails; freedoms of 

expression, association, belief, and respect for the rights of 

everyone irrespective of creed or caste or religion are 

guaranteed. The non-violent civic initiative is the tool DHR 

depends upon to reach a point where no one can stand in the 

way of individual freedom. 

  

DHR Pakistan is one of the very few organizations founded 

by the victims of human rights violations. The organization 

is registered under the Trust Act 1882 of Pakistan. It was 

founded by Mrs. Amina Masood Janjua after the abduction 

of her husband, Mr. Masood Janjua, on July 30th, 2005. 

  



 

4 

After facing a wall from all directions, regarding Masood's 

whereabouts, Amina decided to go for public 

demonstrations outside Parliament House in Islamabad. 

  

The public demonstrations started by one family were soon 

joined by hundreds of other aggrieved families whose loved 

ones had disappeared. After the continuous struggle and 

demonstrations, the Supreme Court of Pakistan took suo 

motu notice of the missing persons. 

  

After this progress, Mrs. Amina Masood wrote applications 

to the Supreme Court for all of the missing persons. Hence, 

as a result of public, media, and legal pressure, many illegal 

detainees were released. 

  

Soon, the struggle for the disappeared took the form of 

rallies, protests, raising awareness through seminars and 

campaigns, and filing cases of the Enforced Disappeared in 

the Supreme Court. 

  

So far, DHR Pakistan has registered more than 2800 cases 

of enforced disappearance, out of which 900+ have been 

resolved despite the meagre resources of the organization. 

The remaining people are still missing. The efforts included 

writing letters and meetings with the high ups such as the 

prime minister, President and Chief of Army staff as well as 

Chief Justice of Pakistan. Apart from that, leaders of major 

political parties were also approached in person by the 

chairperson herself. 
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Many international organizations, such as Amnesty 

International and HRCP, have been supporting DHR for the 

last 16 years. DHR is also a member of AFAD (Asian 

Federation against Involuntary Disappearances), which 

supports the organization in all its current events. The cases 

of Enforced Disappearance were also reported to the media 

and International Human Rights Organizations. This issue 

was raised, debated and Point-of-Orders were obtained many 

times in the Parliament. 

  

The Defense of Human Rights is continually working for all 

the enforced disappeared persons in Pakistan and is a symbol 

of hope for thousands of families whose loved ones are 

victims of this torture. 

  

The Chairperson, along with her entire team, is confident 

that their struggle will bring hundreds of people home to 

their loved ones. The Defence of Human Rights believes that 

every citizen has an equal right to justice and freedom, and 

hence will keep on working till the issue of enforced 

disappearance is resolved in the region.  
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About Taiwan Foundation for 

Democracy 

 

Taiwan's peaceful transition to democracy is not only a 

historical accomplishment for its twenty-three million 

people, but a landmark in the worldwide spread of 

democracy. Only after years of struggle and effort could this 

transformation take place. We must never forget this history, 

for it shapes the cornerstone of our continued commitment 

to the principles of democracy and human rights. 

 

The Foundation was established with an inter-related, two-

tracked mission in mind. Domestically, the TFD strives to 

play a positive role in consolidating Taiwan's democracy and 

fortifying its commitment to human rights. 

 

Internationally, the Foundation hopes to become a strong 

link in the world's democratic network, joining forces with 

related organizations around the world. Through the years, 

Taiwan has received valuable long-term assistance and 

stalwart support from the international community, and it is 

now time to repay that community for all of its efforts. 

 

The Ministry of Foreign Affairs initiated the Taiwan 

Foundation for Democracy project in 2002. After much 

research and careful evaluation, the Ministry integrated the 

required resources from many sectors of society. In January 

2003, the Ministry obtained the support of all political 

parties to pass the budget for the Foundation in the 

legislature.  
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TFD formally came into being on June 17, 2003, with its first 

meeting of the Board of Trustees and Supervisory Board. At 

that meeting, Legislative Yuan President Wang Jin-pyng 

was elected TFD’s first chairman, serving until 2016. On 

March 23, 2016, Legislative Yuan President Su Jia-chyuan 

was elected its second chairman, and on March 5, 2020, the 

current chairman You Si-kun was elected.  

 

According to its By-laws, the TFD is governed by a total of 

seventeen trustees and five supervisors, representing 

political parties, the government, academia, non-

governmental organizations, and the business sector. 
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Zahid & Sadiq Ameen 

Dates of Disappearances: 11th July 2014 & 9th March 2021  

 

 

On a cold late night in March 2021, Sultan heard a knock at 

his door. His heart leapt as it brought him flashbacks of a 

similar unfortunate night almost 7 years back. 

 

Sultan’s brother Zahid was taken away on July 11th, 2014 

by an unknown person who claimed to be from a premier 

intelligence agency in the country. No due process followed 

after the abduction of Zahid.  

 

Sultan, along with his other family members, tried his best 

to file an FIR but to no avail as the respective police station 

of their area blatantly refused to register it. Hence, Sultan set 

it upon himself to seek justice for his beloved brother and 

knocked on every door that had even the slightest possibility 

of getting him closer to his brother. “I wrote to the Prime 

Minister, the provincial and federal ministers, social 

workers and different legislators, but to no avail. Let alone 

earning their assistance in my struggle, I didn’t even hear a 

response to any of the letters I wrote and posted with so 

much hope,” says Sultan in a heartbroken tone. 

 

Fortunately, he came across the Defence of Human Rights 

the very same year and with their help, was able to 

successfully file the First Information Report (FIR). The 

successful accomplishment of one step toward his goal gave 

him the strength to knock on a lot more doors than before. A 
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written petition was submitted to the High Court and the 

Commission of Enquiry on Enforced Disappearances was 

also reached out to in an endeavour to safely track Zahid. 

However, no hope bore fruit as the institutions simply went 

on with their convenient discussions and no concrete steps. 

Eventually, what was initially perceived as a matter of a few 

months (as per the police’s statement) has become a 7-year 

old case today, with no trace of Zahid. 

 

Despite his apprehensions, Sultan answered the door only to 

have his worst fear realized. A few armed men pushed their 

way inside the house, enquiring about his other brother, 

named Sadiq. They stormed into the bedroom without 

answering any questions. The fear-stricken parents tried to 

make sense of the situation and fainted after anticipating a 

similar fate for their other son as well. Once again, another 

brother of Sultan was taken away without any explanation, 

warning, or evidence of a criminal record or charge. 

 

To this day, Sultan knocks on each door that might bring him 

justice, but the consecutive years of seemingly futile struggle 

have made him fear for not only the lives of his abducted 

brothers but also for his own and his remaining family 

members. He pleads: 

 

"Take them away, keep them there, and punish them, but at 

least tell us what their sin is. Even if they have killed 

hundreds of people, present them in court, bring in the 

evidence, and pronounce them guilty after a proper trial. 

This way, our entire family has been held hostage for years. 

On what account? We have absolutely no clue!"  
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Sajid Mehmood 
Date of Disappearance: 14th March 2016  

 

 

A father of three daughters and the sole breadwinner of his 

family was taken away on an unfortunate night in March 

2016. Without any production of a warrant or rendering of 

any verbal explanation, Sajid Mehmood was snatched away 

from an affluent family, which lived, presumably, in a safe 

area of the capital city of Pakistan. The kids still get the most 

horrible nightmares as a result of that episode of the 

abduction of their father that unfolded right in front of their 

eyes. 

 

The wife of the abducted is left clueless to mourn the 

situation having no power to do anything to alleviate the 

suffering. The Courts stated that they have no clue of the 

missing person’s whereabouts, whereas the police said they 

had no answer to the questions of his loved ones, and 

similarly, the government had nothing helpful to offer. 

 

Sajid’s daughter narrates that he could never tolerate seeing 

the national flag on the ground and would even stop driving 

to pick it up if he ever found a paper flag on the road. He 

would always give it the utmost respect and would hoist a 

large green and white parcham on his house every 

Independence Day. She goes on to mention that even though 

he held the flag in such high regard, “the systems that existed 

under the flag that he loved had failed him.” 
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The family of the abducted faced several other issues 

following Sajid's disappearance, which included a severe 

financial crunch (due to the loss of the only breadwinner) 

and general insecurity (due to the loss of the ‘man of the 

house’). 

  

After a prolonged and tiring legal battle, the High Court has 

passed an order to pay monthly expenses to the family of the 

abducted.  

  

Imagine the agony these people would be living in because 

they had received no closure regarding the whereabouts of a 

loved one. One does not know if they are dead or alive, 

healthy or emaciated, sane or insane. Not just the abducted 

are tortured in this way, but their entire family dies a million 

deaths each day and night. 

 

Sajid’s case is the same, where not only the victim suffered, 

but the entire family was pushed into the dark abyss of 

difficulties and insecurities, where the kids were forced to 

grow up without a father, and the wife was forced to live the 

remaining years of her life fighting for someone who was 

nowhere to be found. 

  

They keep wondering what the purpose remains of the state 

and its institutions if they are barely able to function. 

  

Sajid’s parents have grown older, missing him each day. His 

daughters have grown up and have crossed various 

milestones in their lives in his absence.  
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In the words of his daughter, “I found myself not cherishing, 

rather dreading every milestone we achieved.” 

 

His wife has been in an endless struggle to not leave any 

doorstep unapproached that might have the slightest ray of 

hope. The mind cannot possibly stop thinking of the miseries 

that this family - just like so many other ones - has to go 

through without even having knowledge of what they have 

done to deserve all of that.  
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Abdullah Umar 
Date of Disappearance: 19th June 2015 

 

 

The father of a young boy is taken away, and the mourning 

family is left behind with no closure at all. Abdullah was 

taken in 2017 as he went to offer his Taraweeh prayers on 

the second night of Ramadan. He went out that night, never 

to return to his home and family. 

  

There has been no sign of him since then. His wife, Zainab, 

tried calling his cousin, who went with him, and got worried 

to death when he also didn’t pick up. As the men of the 

family went out to search, they returned with horrifying and 

earth-shattering news for the rest of the family. 

  

Zainab wasn’t herself after learning that her dear spouse had 

been taken away. She recalls, “When I realized something 

terrible had happened to him, he had been taken to a place 

nobody knew and perhaps would never know the directions 

to. I couldn't eat, sleep, or do anything else to maintain my 

functionality for a long time. I just lay on my prayer mat and 

prayed for his return, day in and day out.” As she came back 

to a sufficient level of mental consciousness, she went to the 

nearest police station to file the case. She regularly attended 

his court hearings and complied with all the legal formalities, 

leaving no stone unturned as far as the efforts to find 

Abdullah were concerned. 
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Abdullah’s son was not told for a long time that his father 

was abducted by the intelligence. He was lied to by his 

mother that “his dad was abroad and he talked to his mum 

once he went to sleep.” The family dreaded the day when 

the son would find out the truth. 

  

Very recently, when the son discovered the truth about his 

father’s situation, the once cheerful child became a mess. He 

is mostly silent and unusually scared of strangers. Therefore, 

this is not merely about the abducted but also about the 

peace, welfare, and development of everyone else associated 

with him. 

  

In 2018, the court ruled that the accused should be produced 

in a matter of a few months, otherwise the Prime Minister 

should resign and the family should be provided with a hefty 

sum of money, but to no avail, as there was still no sign of 

the accused being presented in court. It has been three years 

since his wife has been fighting the case after that verdict as 

well and there seems to be no hope whatsoever as far as the 

chances of Abdullah being reproduced through legal means 

are concerned.  
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Altaf Ali Shah 

Date of Disappearance: 19th Sep 2009  
 

 

“My mother cries hysterically before Allah each night, 

asking him to safely return her boy to her,” says the brother 

of Altaf Ali Shah, recalling the time when he was abducted 

from his home in 2009 in front of his parents. The incident 

gave them the biggest trauma of their lives. 

  

Altaf Ali Shah was 19 years old at that time and was a 

student at Mehran University, Jamshoro. He was called in 

for interrogation by someone who identified himself as an 

army officer (as far as he knew) and never came back after 

that. 

  

As his father approached the said person who took him 

away, he was told that he was worrying for no reason and 

that the victim would be back within no time and that he was 

taken away for some necessary investigation. The father, 

along with his uncle, covered the long distance from their 

hometown to the valley of Swat to meet the ‘army’ officer 

regularly to enquire about his son, but every time he was told 

the same story. Today, it has been more than a decade and 

there’s still no sign of him. 

  

It has been 12 years since Altaf disappeared, and the entire 

family is simply stuck in time. The members of the family 

collectively make this appeal to the government: 
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“Punish him, if he has done anything wrong. But at least 

bring him to the court, produce evidence, and do it through 

an official verdict against him.” 

  

The struggle of this family does not end here, as not just 

Altaf but quite a few other members of the family were taken 

away in the same manner. The list includes Altaf’s cousins 

Umar Saeed, Wajid Ali Shah, and Saleem Shah, his uncle 

Rooh-ul-Amin, and brother-in-law Amin-ul-Shah. 

  

Due to the consistent and sincere efforts of the Defence of 

Human Rights’ Chairperson, Aminah Masood, one of the 

missing persons, named Wajid Ali Shah, was reunited with 

the family. While this is a milestone that has been achieved, 

the family is still anything but secure. Altaf’s brother, Aftab 

Shah, says that the injustices that have been done concerning 

each missing individual in their family by the ‘security 

agencies’ could fill a complete book for each person. 

  

The persons that remained in the family were highly insecure 

and doubtful of the legal narrative that was provided 

incessantly to their loved ones. Aftab Shah says that he could 

have joined some extremist organization to avenge the 

atrocities inflicted on his family, but only because of the 

support of DHR Pakistan and specifically its chairperson, he 

became a human rights defender. He actually enabled other 

people from Swat (around 300 in number) to register their 

cases and became their voice on television and social media 

as well. 
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The pain of Altaf’s family, which lost six of its members 

through enforced disappearance, is inconceivable to those 

who have no such experience in life. It’s not just the loss of 

one life or individual, but the entire family is thrust back into 

the dark ages with no hope. 
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Insaf Dayo  

Date of Disappearance: 29th May 2017  

 

 

This sombre story is about a woman named Aqsa Dayo, 

whose brother, Insaf Dayo was forcefully abducted from his 

own shop in broad daylight in Hyderabad, Sindh. 

  

Aqsa Dayo patently described the brutality with which her 

brother Insaf was abducted: “On May 29th, 2017 in the 

Nazar Muhallah of Hyderabad, my brother was working in 

his shop quietly when suddenly a Vigo car, carrying three 

policemen and three civilians, hurriedly stopped in front of 

the shop and started moving towards my brother. They 

started assaulting him and battering him at gunpoint just 

before wrapping a matte black cloth around his face to 

prevent him from seeing what was happening. They then 

dragged and hurled his body inside their car, started it, and 

drove away from the scene in seconds. It was the last day 

anybody ever saw the face of my brother.” 

  

Around 4 years and 3 months have passed since this incident, 

and there is not even a single sign of what happened to Insaf 

Dayo or why he was abducted by his assailants. Aqsa 

revealed: “We have filed a petition in the High Court and the 

hearing takes place after around fifteen to thirty days. A 

Joint Investigation Team was formed, which has been 

conducting an inquiry since then but has not produced 

anything of substance.”  
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Aqsa further revealed how this incident has tormented her 

mother and taken a toll on her family’s mental wellbeing. 

“Following this horrible incident, my mother’s health has 

abysmally deteriorated who was already diagnosed with and 

suffering from diabetes mellitus. She has also faced severe 

mental shocks, after which we had to get her admitted into a 

hospital where she eventually received six-month-long 

medical treatment. My own physical and mental health 

condition has fallen apart, and my younger sister, who 

usually accompanies me on every protest, is going through 

severe mental stress and suffering.” 

  

She says that when someone who is so loved and dear to you 

goes missing in this way, there are bound to be consequences 

that everybody is witnessing right now. “We are extremely 

distressed and distraught following the abduction of my 

brother. Of course, when a loved one goes missing, the lives 

of his family members cannot be easy – they must always 

face difficulties and live in pain and agony.” Having been 

asked about the degree of support and cooperation her family 

received from the state institutions, Aqsa Dayo bemoaned 

and lamented the lack of assistance they received: “On the 

very next day following Insaf’s abduction, my elder brother 

went to the police station where he met an officer who just 

robbed him off by throwing a few red herrings. We were told 

by the high-ranking police officers that our brother had been 

abducted by some secretly operating intelligence agency and 

we should start arranging protests for him. Since then, we 

have visited different cities and regions in search of my 

brother and held countless protests, but we have not yet 
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earned the fruit of our struggle – my brother is still missing 

and God knows where he has been.”  

 

Aqsa Dayo is not the only one who is waiting to receive 

justice; there are innumerable victims and families in our 

country who are hopeless and distressed in the face of the 

indifference shown by the state’s institutions. It is, therefore, 

appropriate to say that the most important thing in society is 

justice, and when a society is unable to deliver it, it is on its 

way to wreck and ruin. 
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Muhammad Ayub Kandhro  

Date of Disappearance: 28th April 2017  

 

This account has been narrated by a girl named Marvi 

Kandhro, whose father, Mr. Ayub Kandhro, has been illicitly 

disappeared by some unknown people on the Ranipur-

Gambhat national highway. Marvi’s father Ayub Kandhro 

was kidnapped on April 28th, 2017, and although more than 

4 years have ticked by, Ayub Kandhro is still languishing 

somewhere in a prison cell under the watch of his 

tormentors. 

   

According to his daughter Marvi Kandhro: "My father was 

a government servant who used to work in the public health 

department of Sindh. On the day of his abduction, as usual, 

my father left early in the morning for work. No one knew 

he was going to be abducted and we had just waved him his 

last office goodbye." She went on saying: "When we found 

out that my father had been abducted, we went to the police 

station to file an official complaint but didn’t receive any 

proper response from them. We then went on to file a 

petition in the Sindh High Court and the only outcome we 

have gotten from pursuing the legal channels is the 

continuance of this case up to the present day." 

 

According to Marvi Kandhro, the police seemed completely 

uninterested in following their case. Their repeated rounds 

to the police stations and courts have brought no fruit for the 

family. Ayub Kandhro is still a ‘disappeared person’ and his 
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‘unknown’ status brings all kinds of anguish and suffering to 

his family members. 

  

“For the past four and a half years, we have staged several 

protests in different cities all over Sindh in order to bring the 

attention of the state officials and the public to this issue, but 

every effort we have made has gone in vain.” She went on 

further, saying that “we still don’t know what wrong my 

father has done or what his crime is for which he is 

perpetually being subjected to suffering and torture without 

any judicial order. Neither the police nor the judiciary is 

willing to tell us the crime committed by my father. Is this 

how justice is served in this country? Is this how the 

hardworking citizens of this nation are treated?” These are 

some of the screams and questions asked not only by Marvi 

but every other victim and his family members that continue 

to haunt everyone to this day. 

  

However, unfortunately, these crying questions still go 

unanswered. “We have approached several NGOs and law 

enforcement agencies as well. However, we are always given 

false hopes by the officials and asked to leave. This is why I 

appeal to the prime minister and president of Pakistan to 

take notice of this issue and at least apprise us of the wrong 

my father has committed. We continue to suffer 

psychologically and emotionally in his absence.” 

  

Notwithstanding the slackness of the police and the 

judiciary, Marvi has never thought to shed her constant 

attempts and efforts to retrieve her father back to his normal 

life. She still continues to stage protests regarding this matter 
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and seeks help from several human rights organisations and 

bodies to help her in her resolve to bring her father back. 
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Muhammad Asad Ullah 

Date of Disappearance: 4th Sep 2012  

 

  

Zahida Shaheen is a seamstress who has been living in Okara 

since 2001. When she spoke of the abduction of her eldest 

son Asadullah, her voice was firm and resilient but tempered 

by the challenges she has faced all the while.  She talked 

about her son, Muhammad Asadullah who lived in Lahore – 

first as an ACCA student, and later, as a tutor self-sustaining 

himself to fund his Masters in English Literature. 

  

Zahida is bravely facing the impact of the disappearance of 

her son while living in Okara, with her younger son and a 

daughter who is a state prosecutor in the Lahore High Court. 

She paints a picture of the anxiety which this separation has 

caused. That unfortunate day, Zahida did not hear from her 

son but later on, shockingly learnt that there had been a raid 

on the premises where Àsad lived. Upon reaching Lahore, 

she found out that her son had been abducted along with his 

motorcycle. 

  

With no recourse available to her, Zahida wrote to Amina 

Masood, Chairperson Defence of Human Rights and shared 

her agony. It was then that the case was filed and an FIR was 

registered. However, Zahida maintains that FIR did not 

mention the witnesses of the abduction. Witnesses for 

Asadullah – neighbours and the landlord of the premises – 

affirmed that the incident had taken place in front of their 

eyes. But in the Commission of Inquiry on Enforced 
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Disappearances, authorities excluded these testimonies at 

the behest of the police. Cutting out press clippings and 

presenting them to the Commission – an act borne out by 

Zahida herself – the case was finally registered. Justice 

(Retd.) Javed Iqbal is the  Chair of this Commission. Victims 

come and go to attend the hearings of this commission for 

years but only to hear the false hopes and observe impunity. 

Zahida complains that this is not a forum for us, the 

aggrieved but an instrument to save the perpetrators.  This 

Commission disposed of the case of Zahida’s still 

disappeared son, mentioning that they have no clue of his 

whereabouts, therefore have given the case to the 

Government. 

  

It’s been 8 years now – Zahida used to find hope when she 

looked at other families whose disappeared loved ones had 

returned home. But that hope too has diminished now. 

Zahida says that the Commission has stopped reporting to 

her; instead, they have washed their hands off the matter by 

saying that the file has been “transferred to the Authorities.” 

  

Asadullah used to be the breadwinner of her family – a 

hardworking, conscientious, and intellectually curious 

young man.  Without him around, Zahida's world has 

darkened.  She sadly describes how she raised Asad with 

love and care and happily faced all the difficulties as a single 

mother.  

  

In dire situations like these, the sense of agony and anxiety 

felt by the family members is aptly described by Zahida in 

these words: “Everything is finished, there’s no hope left 
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now.” Her message to those who are undergoing the same 

dilemma is to: “get together and fight as a group under the 

banner of DHR, not as individuals; so we can really attempt 

to make an impact.” 
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Shabbir Ahmad 

Date of Disappearance: 4th Oct 2016  

 

 

Shabbir Ahmed with his wife went to Turbat on a holiday 

trip on Oct 4, 2016, and was arrested with 25 others. All 

except him were released. Travelling from her home in 

District Awaran, Balochistan, Seema accompanied her 

sister-in-law to register an FIR. She says that the police 

refused to register an FIR against FC Personnel, as 

confirmed by Seema’s sister-in-law, an eye witness. They 

petitioned in the High Court after travelling to Quetta. After 

several appeals, including one to the Commission on 

Enforced Disappearances and only then, did the police 

register an FIR – as recent or rather as late as 2020. 

  

This senseless tragedy has struck this family twice —

Seema’s cousin Zaffar Baloch was abducted by agencies on 

24th Oct 2013, on a break from his work in Dubai, and living 

in Pattoki. This calamity struck them without any 

foreboding. Perhaps this is the most sinister cruelty of 

enforced disappearances. They can happen anywhere to 

anyone, and their records can be expunged from the masses’ 

minds. No one must know they ever existed. And this is also 

what happened to Seema’s brother. But Seema didn’t give 

up.   

  

Seema describes how they tried to meet with the Chief 

Minister of Balochistan. Recently, she went to Islamabad in 

March 2021, to meet with Prime Minister Imran Khan. It’s 
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been 6 months since he consoled these victims for the tracing 

of their loved ones, but there’s been no progress since. The 

same dismal trend follows in Commission hearings. She 

describes an incident in which, upon questioning the 

Commission on progress on her brother’s recovery for the 

fifth year straight, she was berated by Justice Fazlur 

Rehman, who chairs the Commission in Balochistan. This 

apathy regarding practical and conscientious dedication by 

Commission members is in stark contrast to the sensitivity 

required when dealing with such a cruel thing as enforced 

disappearance. 

  

She also describes the stigma of being a woman and fighting 

for her brother and cousin, and how threats by extended 

relatives, neighbours, tribal elders, and others, have warned 

her of the dire consequences of speaking up for her brother. 

At the risk of being a threat to her younger brothers, she had 

to remain silent for a year. But she also describes her parents 

as her greatest strength, who urged her to keep fighting. 
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Muhammad Aslam  

Date of Disappearance: 19th May 2015  

Time 12 noon 

  

 

Asma, Muhammad Aslam’s sister, talks about her brother in 

a feeble and burdened with grief voice. Muhammad Aslam, 

a conductor of an oil vehicle, was abducted at gunpoint by 

security personnel on 19th May 2015. The family consists of 

his sister, his father, and his mother. It is a small family, 

living in zilla Qallat in Balochistan, and each member of the 

family is experiencing the loss in their own way.  

 

Haji Muhammad Ishaq, who is the father of Muhammad 

Aslam, says he suffers from trauma and immense grief as a 

result of which he frequently falls down wherever he goes, 

whether in the mosque, at home, or on the roads. He is 

unconscious of what is happening to him. In the same way, 

he faints in front of people of authority, while seeking 

recourse through them. 

  

With the victim’s family, the conversation is laced with one 

belief: “La illaha illalah Muhammad ur Rasollullah,” the 

proclamation of the Oneness of Allah. He went to Sardar 

Ataullah Mengal and shared his plea with them, but received 

no satisfactory response. 

  

The victim’s mother suffers from paralysis and is extremely 

sick and bedridden. One particularly harrowing incident 
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related by them shows us her state of mind when she lives in 

hope of seeing her son before her final hour approaches. 

  

Outside the family, there is no help. The family lost 

Muhammad Aslam’s fiancé, who excused herself from 

continuing the engagement. Haji Ishaq says that this felt like 

both his son and his daughter had left them. Any relationship 

they had with his fiancé, or with anyone in the outside world, 

was through Aslam, as he was the young man of the house. 

Muhammad Ishaq has only one message for the government 

– “return my son only. I need nothing else.” 

  

Asma, Muhammad Aslam’s sister, describes the family’s 

sufferings, from economic hardships to isolation, to 

emotional agony and the physical disabilities of her parents, 

as devastating and nerve-wracking. The family faces 

ostracization by their extended family networks as well. 

  

She also sheds light on the inciting issues that led to the 

disappearance. Asma says there was a spate of forced 

disappearances around her brother’s workplace, and she had 

brought it up with him, but he had assured her that those who 

are innocent like themselves have nothing to fear. A few 

days later, she got a call that Aslam had also been abducted. 

Asma swears to the Qur’an and says this is a personal 

animosity that someone has taken out on her brother and he 

was completely innocent. 

  

Asma concludes with the following words: “this grief is as 

if our entire family has also disappeared along with our 
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brother. It is not just our brother who has been abducted, it 

is our whole family that has been erased.” 
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Samiullah & Amanullah  

Date of Disappearances: 8th Dec 2017 

 

 

A long-ago disappearance is just as traumatic as the one 

experienced a day before. The edge of pain is not blunted by 

time; rather, it only grows more acute. This is true for the 

family of Samiullah, a resident of zilla Mehmand KPK who 

has been declared ‘disappeared’ without a trace. He 

disappeared on December 8th, 2017 and it has been over 4 

years since then. During this time, his four children – 

Zabihullah, Fatiha, Sidra, Ruqayya – and his wife, along 

with the rest of his family, suffered from economic, social, 

and psychological aftermath. It is hard to ascertain which of 

these several lives have been most affected. 

  

As one peruses the list of the affectees and dependents of the 

person who disappeared, it is as if the whole family has lost 

its face, its figurehead. These four children have suffered, 

and continue to suffer, the greatest injustices in their young 

lives. They endure illness, separation, and loneliness, and 

live without any economic or emotional support. They are 

growing up without a formal education. This sheds a light on 

the cycle of dependence and despondency that enforced 

disappearances foster, in addition to being blatantly abusive 

and barbarous. 

  

There are six brothers, excluding Samiullah, but they don’t 

have a family business to fall back on. Their father, too, 

suffered a heart attack and passed away upon hearing of 

Samiullah's news. Their mother suffers from depression and 
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fatigue – and also from the fact that she may not be able to 

see her son in this final phase of her life. Still, Samiullah’s 

family keeps on fighting adversity on every level.  

 

On one hand, there is a lack of solidarity and neglect from 

society, and on the other, it is the financial predicament they 

face. The third is, of course, grief. It feels like they have been 

living in a void since the disappearance isolated them from 

the rest of the world. 

  

Samiullah’s cousin also disappeared on 1st Oct 2014 – his 

name is Amanullah. He too has four children. Their names 

are Rehman, Farman, Abdul Aziz, Marwa. They are also 

growing up without any proper education. Amanullah does 

not have a brother; in fact, he is the only son of his family, 

and his disappearance has left a similar mark on his family. 

  

Two such incidents in the same extended family have left 

them without any hope of recovery or any sense of justice. 

The dagger of the State hangs above their heads perpetually, 

and the stigma is overpowering. At this time, the family 

bands together, while everyone else seems to have ostracized 

them. The despair here is beyond words.  

 

This twin tragedy that has been heaped on a single family is 

a testament to the failure of the security apparatus and the 

judicial process, which has been unable to return them to 

their families. This means, any chance of access to justice, 

due process and survival has been denied to both the 

“Disappeared” and their families. 
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 فہرست 

  کے ٹرسٹ   سروس  پبلک  نڈ ی ا  رائٹس   ومنیہ   آف  فنس یڈ 
 1 ں ی م بارے 

 5 ں ی م  بارے کے  ت یجمہور برائے  شن یفاؤنڈ  وانیتائ 

 7 ن یآم  صادق اور  زاہد 

 10 محمود  ساجد 

 14 عمر عبدالل 

 17 شاہ  ی عل الطاف

 20 و ی دا انصاف

 23 کاندھرو  وب یا محمد 

 26 الل  اسد  محمد 

 29 احمد  ر یشب

 31 اسلم  محمد 

 34 الل   امان  اور  الل  ع یسم

 

  



 



   

 

سروس   پبلک  اینڈ  رائٹس  ہیومن  آف  ڈیفنس 

 کے بارے میں ٹرسٹ

ٹرسٹ  سروس  پبلک  اینڈ  رائٹس  ہیومن  آف  )انسانی    ڈیفنس 

آر   ایچ  ڈی  انجمن(،  کی  خدمت  عوامی  اور  دفاع  کے  حقوق 

پاکستان، ایک آزادانہ غیر سرکاری، غیر منافع بخش تنظیم ہے  

سے   حقوق  انسانی  کے  متاثرین  کے  گمشدگی  جبری  جو 

ایسی   ایک  کی  تشدد  یہ  ۔  ہے  پائی  تشکیل  سبب  کے  محرومی 

شکل ہے جو کہ نہ صرف متاثرین کے لیے بلکہ متاثرین کے  

 خاندانوں کے لیے بھی اذیت ناک ہے۔ 

کا  انجمن  کی    اس  قانون  اور  آزادی، جمہوریت  مقصد  بنیادی 

سہ قدمی حکمتِ عملی، یعنی تحقیق، آگاہی   حکمرانی کے لیے

کے   کرنا(  فراہم  امداد  معاشی  اور  قانونی  )جیسے  عمل  اور 

ذریعے جبری گمشدگی اور تشدد کے متاثرین کے لیے کوشش  

ایسی امداد کی فراہمی صرف ایک جمہوری سیاسی   کرنا ہے۔ 

ممکن ہے جس میں حکومت اپنے لوگوں کو کٹہرے  نظام میں  

میں کھڑا کرے اور وہ اپنے اعمال کے لیے جوابدہ ہوں۔ قانون  

کی حکمرانی اسی صورت مؤثر ہے جب اظہارِ رائے، شراکت  

داری، عقیدہ، اور ہر کسی کے حقوق کا احترام بغیر فرقے یا  

د پر امن اورغیر متشد   ذات یا مذہب کی تفریق کئے، کیا جائے۔

اقدا ایچ    م شہری  پرڈی  ہے جس  کار  انحصار  وہ طریقِ  کا  آر 

ہے کہ وہ اس کے ذریعے اس مقام تک پہنچنا چاہتی ہے جہاں  

 کوئی فردِ واحد کی آزادی کی راہ میں رکاوٹ نہ بن سکے۔

٢ 

 

١ 

 



   

جو   ہے  ایک  سے  میں  تنظیموں  چند  ان  پاکستان  آر  ایچ  ڈی 

شکار   کا  ورزیوں  خلاف  کی  حقوق  کی  انسانی  والوں  ہونے 

ایکٹ   ٹرسٹ  پاکستان کے  تنظیم  ہے۔  گئی  کی  قائم  طرف سے 

آمنہ    1882 محترمہ  بنیاد  کی  اس  ہے۔  رجسٹرڈ  تحت  کے 

مسعود جنجوعہ نے اپنے شوہر مسعود جنجوعہ کے اغوا کے  

جنجوعہ   مسعود  تھی۔  اغوا    2005  جولائی  30بعدرکھی  کو 

 ہوئے تھے۔ 

سے   دیواروں  طرف  ہر  میں  تلاش  کی  ٹکرانے  مسعود  سر 

کے بعد آمنہ نے اسلام آباد میں پارلیمنٹ ہاؤس کے باہر عوامی  

 مظاہروں کے لیے جانے کا فیصلہ کیا۔ 

عوامی   والے  ہونے  شروع  سے  طرف  کی  خاندان  ایک 

ہو   شامل  خاندان  دیگر غمزدہ  سینکڑوں  ہی  جلد  میں  مظاہروں 

مسلسل   تھے۔  گئے  ہو  گمشدہ  جبری  پیارے  کے  جن  گئے 

مظا  اور  نے  جدوجہد  پاکستان  آف  کورٹ  سپریم  بعد  کے  ہروں 

 لاپتا افراد کا ازخود نوٹس لیا۔ 

افراد  تمام لاپتا  نے  آمنہ مسعود  بعد مسز  پیش رفت کے  اس 

عوامی   لہذا،  لکھیں۔  درخواستیں  میں  کورٹ  سپریم  لیے  کے 

تحریک ، میڈیا اور قانونی دباؤ کے نتیجے میں، بہت سے غیر  

 قانونی قیدیوں کو رہا کیا گیا۔

جلد ہی، لاپتا افراد کے لیے جدوجہد نے جلسوں، احتجاجوں،  

ذریعے  کے  مہمات  اور  جبری    سیمیناروں  اور  اگاہی  عوامی 

 کی شکل اختیار کر لی۔گمشدگی کے مقدمات درج کرنے 

سے زائد کیس رجسٹرڈ ہیں جن    2800جبری گمشدگی کے  

وسائل کے    900میں سے   معمولی  تنظیم کے  باوجود حل  کو 



   

کیا گیا ہے۔ باقی لوگ ابھی تک لاپتا ہیں اور جبری گمشدگی کا  

آف   اور چیف  اعظم، صدر  وزیرِ  میں  کوششوں  ان  ہیں۔  شکار 

جیسے   پاکستان  آف  جسٹس  چیف  ساتھ  ساتھ  کے  سٹاف  آرمی 

اعلیٰ حکام کے ساتھ خطوط اور ملاقاتیں شامل تھیں۔ اس کے  

خو بذات  سے  جماعتوں  سیاسی  دیگر  نے  علاوہ  چیئرپرسن  د 

 رابطہ کیا۔

کئی بین الاقوامی تنظیمیں، جیسے ایمنسٹی انٹرنیشنل اور ایچ  

پی، گزشتہ   آر کی حمایت کر    10آر سی  ایچ  ڈی  سالوں سے 

کے   فیڈریشن  )ایشیائی  ڈی  اے  ایف  اے  آر  ایچ  ڈی  ہیں۔  رہی 

خلاف غیر رضاکارانہ گمشدگیوں( کا رکن بھی ہے، جو تنظیم  

میں معاونت کرتی ہے۔ جبری   ہ تقریبات کو اس کے تمام موجود 

گمشدگی کے معاملات میڈیا اور بین الاقوامی انسانی حقوق کی  

تنظیموں کو بھی رپورٹ کیے گئے۔ یہ مسئلہ پارلیمنٹ میں کئی  

بار اٹھایا گیا، بحث کی گئی اور پوائنٹ آف آرڈر حاصل کیے  

 گئے۔ 

ے تمام  پاکستان میں لاپتا ہونے وال  ڈیفینس آف ہیومب رائیٹس 

ہے  رہی  کر  کام  مسلسل  لیے  کے  خاندانوں    افراد  ہزاروں  اور 

کے لیے امید کی کرن ہے جن کے پیارے اس تشدد کا شکار  

 ہیں۔ 

کی   ان  کہ  ہیں  پرُاعتماد  ساتھ  ٹیم کے  پوری  اپنی  چیئرپرسن 

گھر لانے  کو  پیاروں  ان کے  کو  لوگوں  سینکڑوں  کا    جدوجہد 

سبب بنے گی۔ ڈیفنس آف ہیومن رائٹس )ڈی ایچ آر( کا ماننا ہے  

کہ ہر شہری کو انصاف اور آزادی کا یکساں حق حاصل ہے،  

اور اس لیے جب تک خطے میں جبری گمشدگی کا مسئلہ حل  

٣ 

 



   

 نہیں ہوتا تب تک وہ کام کرتے رہیں گے۔ 

  

٤ 

 



   

 

برائے   فاؤنڈیشن  بارے  تائیوان  کے  جمہوریت 

 میں

ملک   نہ صرف اس  منتقلی  پرُامن  میں  تائیوان کی جمہوریت 

بلکہ   تاریخی کارنامہ ہے،  ایک  ابادی کے لیے  تئیس ملین  کی 

دنیا بھر میں جمہوریت کے پھیلاؤ میں ایک امتیازی نشان ہے۔  

آسکتی   تبدیلی  یہ  ہی  بعد  کے  کوشش  اور  کی جدوجہد  برسوں 

کبھ کو  تاریخ  اس  ہمیں  یہ  ہے۔  کیونکہ  چاہیے،  بھولنا  نہیں  ی 

مسلسل   ہماری  اصولوں سے  حقوق کے  انسانی  اور  جمہوریت 

 وابستگی کو وضع دیتی ہے۔

ذہن   کو  مقاصد  طرفہ  دو  اور  وابستگی  باہمی  ایک  تنظیم  یہ 

پر،   طور  مقامی  تھی۔  گئی  کی  قائم  ہوئے  رکھتے    TFDمیں 

کے  تائیوان کی جمہوریت کو مستحکم کرنے اور انسانی حقوق  

لیے اپنے عزم و مقصد کو مستحکم بنانے میں مثبت کردار ادا  

 کرنے کی کوشش کرتا ہے۔

بین الاقوامی سطح پر، یہ تنظیم دنیا کے جمہوری نیٹ ورک  

بھر   دنیا  پرُامید ہے۔ یہ  میں ایک مضبوط کڑی بننے کے لیے 

میں متعلقہ تنظیموں کے ساتھ افواج میں شامل ہو رہی ہے۔ کئی  

برادری کی جانب  سالوں   الاقوامی  بین  کو  تائیوان  دوران،  کے 

المدتی امداد اور مضبوط حمایت ملی ہے، اور اب   سے طویل 

وقت آگیا ہے کہ اس کمیونٹی کو اس کی تمام کوششوں کا بدلہ  

 دیا جائے۔ 

٥ 

 



   

ڈیموکریسی   فار  فاؤنڈیشن  تائیوان  نے  خارجہ  وزارتِ 

جائزے کے  ء میں شروع کیا۔ کافی تحقیق اور  2002پراجیکٹ  

بعد وزارت نے کئی شعبوں سے مطلوبہ وسائل کو مربوط کیا۔  

ء میں، وزارت نے آئین ساز جماعت میں تنظیم  2003جنوری  

کے لیے بجٹ منظور کرنے کے لیے تمام سیاسی جماعتوں کی  

 حمایت حاصل کی۔ 

TFD    بورڈ سپروائزری  اور  ٹرسٹیز  آف  بورڈ  پہلی  کی 

یوں باضابطہ طور پر  ء کو ہوئی اور  2003جون    17میٹنگ  

یوآن کے   ساز صدر  قانون  میں،  میٹنگ  اس  آیا۔  میں  وہ وجود 

کے پہلے چیئرمین منتخب ہوئے،    TFDصدر وانگ جن پنگ  

رہے۔  2016جو   دیتے  سرانجام  خدمات  اپنی  تک  مارچ    23ء 

منتخب  2016 چیئرمین  دوسرے  بطور  چیوان  جیا  سو  کو  ء 

یو سی کُن کو  ء کو موجودہ چیئرمین  2020مارچ    5ہوئے اور  

 منتخب کیا گیا۔ 

مطابق،   کے  قوانین  کے  متولیوں    TFDاس  سترہ  کُل 

(trustees اور پانچ منتظمین )    کے زیرِ انتظام ہے جو سیاسی

جماعتوں، حکومت، تعلیمی اداروں، غیر سرکاری تنظیموں اور  

  کاروباری شعبے کی نمائندگی کرتی ہے۔ 

٦ 

 



   

 زاہد اور صادق آمین 

ہون تاریخیں:  جبری گمشدہ  اور  2014جولائی    11ے کی    9ء 

 ء2021مارچ 

 

نے  2021مارچ   سلطان  میں  رات  سرد  ایک  کی  ء 

اس   کہ  پڑا  اچھل  دل  کا  اس  سنی۔  دستک  پر  اپنےدروازے 

دستک نے اسے تقریباً سات سال پہلے اسی طرح کی بد قسمت  

 رات کی یاد دلائی تھی۔

کو   زاہد  بھائی  کے  کو  2014جولائی    11سلطان  نامعلوم  ء 

افراد لے گئے تھے جن کے بارے میں دعویٰ کیا گیا تھا کہ وہ  

کوئی ’انٹیلی جنس ایجنسی‘ ہے جو قومی مفاد کے لیے کام کر  

رہی ہے۔ زاہد کے اغوا کے بعد کوئی مناسب قانونی عمل داری  

 نہیں کی گئی۔ 

سلطان نے اپنے خاندان کے دیگر افراد کے ساتھ مل کر ایف  

کروانے کی پوری کوشش کی لیکن کوئی فائدہ نہیں   آئی آر درج 

پولیس سٹیشن نے اسے   ہوا کیونکہ ان کے علاقے کے متعلقہ 

نے   سلطان  چنانچہ  دیا۔  کر  انکار  صاف  سے  کرنے  رجسٹر 

اپنے پیارے بھائی کے لیے انصاف مانگنے کا فیصلہ خود کیا  

اور ہر اس دروازے پر دستک دی جس سے اسے اپنے بھائی  

قریب   امکان  کے  بھی  سا  کا معمولی  ملنے  پتا  کا  یا اس  ہونے 

تھا۔ ’’ میں نے وزیرِ اعظم، صوبائی اور وفاقی وزراء، سماجی  

کوئی   لیکن  لکھا،  خط  کو  سازوں  قانون  مختلف  اور  کارکنوں 

مدد   بھی  کوئی  کی  ان  میں  جدوجہد  اس  میری  ہوا۔  نہیں  فائدہ 

جوا کا  کسی  میں سے  ان خطوں  نے  میں  رہی،  نہیں  ب  شامل 

٧ 

 



   

بھی نہیں سنا جو میں نے بہت امید کے ساتھ لکھے اور پوسٹ  

 کیے تھے۔“ 

خوش قسمتی سے، وہ اسی سال ڈی ایچ آر سے ملا اور ان  

درج   آر(  آئی  )ایف  رپورٹ  انفارمیشن  فرسٹ  سے،  مدد  کی 

کی   قدم  ایک  طرف  کی  مقصد  اپنے  رہا۔  کامیاب  میں  کرنے 

پ دروازوں  زیادہ  کہیں  سے  پہلے  اسے  نے  دستک  کامیابی  ر 

دینے کی طاقت دی۔ ایک تحریری درخواست ہائی کورٹ میں  

متعلق   سے  گمشدگیوں  جبری  اور  تھی  گئی  کروائی  جمع 

انکوائری کمیشن نے زاہد کو محفوظ طریقے سے ٹریک کرنے  

ملا   نہ  سہارا  کو  امید  بھی  کسی  تاہم،  تھی۔  کی  کوشش  کی 

ر  کیونکہ ادارے محض گفتگو اور کوئی ٹھوس اقدامات کے بغی

آگے بڑھ رہے تھے۔ بالآخر، جسے ابتدائی طور پر چند ماہ کا  

آج بیان کے مطابق(  )پولیس کے  تھا  جاتا    سات   معاملہ سمجھا 

سال پرانا کیس بن گیا ہے، جس میں زاہد کا کوئی سراغ نہیں  

 ہے۔ 

بجتی   پر  دروازے  نے  سلطان  باوجود،  کے  خدشات  اپنے 

دستک   وہ  لیکن  دیا،  جواب  کا  خوف  دستک  بدترین  فقط 

کوسامنے لے کر آئی ۔ چند مسلح افراد گھر کے اندر زبردستی  

داخل ہوئے اور اس کے دوسرے بھائی صادق کے بارے میں  

ہی   بغیر  سنے  جواب  کا  سوال  سے  جانب  کی  انُ  وہ  پوچھا۔ 

حال   صورتِ  نے  والدین  خوفزدہ  گئے۔  گھس  میں  کمرے 

یے بھی  سمجھنے کی کوشش کی اور اپنے دوسرے بیٹے کے ل

لاپتا بیٹے جیسی قسمت کو سامنے پا کر بےہوش ہو گئے۔ ایک  

بار پھر، سلطان کا ایک اور بھائی بغیر کسی وضاحت، انتباہ،  

یا الزام کے ثبوت کے بغیر چھین لیا   یا کسی مجرمانہ ریکارڈ 
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 گیا۔ 

آج تک، سلطان ہر اسُ دروازے پر پرُزور دستک دیتا ہے جو  

ل ہے،  دلوا سکتا  انصاف  بےکار جدوجہد کے  اسے  بظاہر  یکن 

کی   بھائیوں  لاپتا  اپنے  صرف  نہ  اسے  نے  برسوں  مسلسل 

افراد   باقی  خاندان کے  اپنے  اور  اپنے  بلکہ  لیے  زندگیوں کے 

 کے لیے بھی خوفزدہ کر دیا ہے۔ وہ التجا کرتا ہے، 

’’انہیں لے جاؤ، انھیں وہاں رکھو، اور ان کو سزا دو، لیکن  

ان کا گناہ کیا ہے۔ یہاں تک کہ اگر انہوں  کم از کم ہمیں بتاؤ کہ  

انھیں عدالت میں   نے سیکڑوں لوگوں کو قتل کیا ہے، تو بھی 

انھیں   بعد،  کے  ٹرائل  مناسب  اور  کرو،  پیش  ثبوت  کرو،  پیش 

سے   برسوں  خاندان  پورا  ہمارا  طرح،  اس  دو۔  قرار  مجرم 

یرغمال بنا ہوا ہے۔ کس وجہ سے؟ ہمیں قطعی طور پر کوئی  

 ہیں ہے! “ اندازہ ن
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 ساجد محمود

 ء 2016مارچ  14جبری گمشدگی کی تاریخ:  

 

کمپیوٹر   والا  کمانے  اکلوتا  کا  خاندان  اور  باپ  کا  بیٹیوں  تین 

اپنے    ء کی ایک بد قسمت رات میں 2016مارچ    ،  ر ساجد ئیانجن 

گھر سے اغوا کیا گیا۔ بغیر کسی وارنٹ یا زبانی وضاحت کو  

قے سے اغوا کیا گیا جس کو  پیش کیے، اسے ایک ایسے علا

بہت محفوظ سمجھا جاتا ہے، پاکستان کا دارالحکومت اسلام آباد  

، ساجد کی رہائش بھی اسی علاقے میں تھی جب اسے اغوا کیا  

واقعے کے   اغوا کے  والد کے  انُ کے  بھی  اب  کو  بچوں  گیا۔ 

نتیجے میں انتہائی خوفناک خواب آتے ہیں۔ وہی خافناک سانحہ  

میں نظر آتا ہے جو ان کی آنکھوں کے سامنے ہوا   ان کو خواب 

 تھا۔ 

مغوی کی بیوی اس صورتِ حال پر ماتم کناں اور بےبس رہ  

کے   اس  لیے  کے  کرنے  دور  کو  مصیبت  اس  لیکن  ہے  گئی 

یا وسیلہ نہیں ہے۔ عدالتوں نے کہا کہ انھیں   پاس کوئی اختیار 

پولیس کا   لاپتا شخص کے ٹھکانے کی خبر نہیں ہے، جب کہ 

کہنا ہے کہ ان کے پاس ان کے چاہنے والوں کے سوالات کا  

اور اسی طرح حکومت کے پاس کہنے   نہیں ہے  کوئی جواب 

 کے لیے بھی کچھ نہیں۔ 

اس کہ  ہے  کرتی  بیان  بیٹی  کی  بھی   ساجد  کبھی  والد  کے 

اور   تھے  نہیں کرتے  برداشت  دیکھنا  قومی پرچم کو زمین پر 

یہاں تک کہ اگر اسے سڑک پر کوئی چھوٹا جھنڈا بھی پڑا مل  

جاتا تو اسے اٹھانے کے لیے چلتی گاڑی کو روک دیتے تھے۔  
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آزادی   یومِ  ہر  اور  تھے  دیتے  عزت  کوبےحد  پرچم  ہمیشہ  وہ 

ے سبز اور سفید پرچم کے  سے قبل اسے گھر میں موجود بڑ 

کہ   ہے  کرتی  تذکرہ  کا  بات  اس  وہ  تھے۔  دیتے  لگا  پیچھے 

نے جھنڈے کو اسِ قدر عزت کے ساتھ رکھا تھا،   اگرچہ انہوں 

’وہ نظام جو اس پرچم کے سائے تلے تھا، اسُ نے انُہیں )والد  

 کو( مایوس کردیا!‘ 

مغوی کے خاندان کو ساجد کے لاپتا ہونے کے بعد کئی دیگر  

بحران  م مالی  شدید  میں  جس  پڑا،  کرنا  بھی  سامنا  کا  سائل 

)خاندان کے اکلوتے کمانے والے کی گمشدگی( اور عدم تحفظ  

 )گھر کے واحد مرد کے جانے کی وجہ سے( شامل تھے۔

ہائی   بعد،  قانونی جنگ کے  دینے والی  اور تھکا  ایک طویل 

فراہمی پر  کورٹ نے مغوی کے خاندان کو ماہانہ اخراجات کی  

میں   ملک  کیا  کہ  ہے  بات  کی  سوچنے  یہ  تاہم،  ہے۔  کیا  اتفاق 

نظامِ انصاف یہی باقیات ہیں، جہاں ہر کوئی کسی چیز کو غیر  

حل   کا  مسئلے  اس  لیکن  گا  دے  قرار  خوفناک  اور  منصفانہ 

سمجھنے کی ہمت تک بھی نہیں کرے گا۔ یہ بھی سوچنے کی  

حال لاپتا افراد  بات ہے کہ کیا اس طرح کی عارضی صورتِ  

ہو سکتی ہے؟   ایک مستقل حقیقت  لیے  والوں کے  کے چاہنے 

شاید نہیں، کیونکہ یہ عارضی صورتِ حال تو بہت سے لوگوں  

ناممکن   کی  سرپرستوں  اپنے  جو  ہے  نہیں  موجود  لیے  کے 

مفلسی   اور  بےبسی  لاچاری،  ہیں،  رہے  کر  انتظار  کا  واپسی 

 کے ساتھ۔ 

ہوا    بار اور پھر اسی طرحقوم حیران ہے کہ کیسے لوگ ہر  

 میں غائب ہو جاتے ہیں۔



   

ذرا تصور کریں کہ یہ لوگ کس اذیت میں رہ رہے ہوں گے  

کوئی   سے  حوالے  کے  خیریت  کی  عزیز  کسی  انھیں  کیونکہ 

خبر نہیں ملی۔ کوئی نہیں جانتا کہ وہ زندہ ہیں یا مردہ، صحت  

کے ہیں۔ نہ  مند یا کمزور، ٹھیک ہیں یا اپنا ذہنی توازن کھو چ

صرف مغویوں کو تشدد کا نشانہ بنایا جاتا ہے بلکہ ان کا پورا  

 خاندان ہر دن اور رات نہ جانے کتنی بار مر کر جیتا ہے۔ 

نے   اسُ  نہ صرف  جہاں  ہے،  ہی  ایسا  بھی  معاملہ  کا  ساجد 

کی   تحفظ  عدم  اور  مشکلات  خاندان  پورا  بلکہ  اٹھائی  تکلیف 

گیا دیا  دھکیل  میں  کھائی  بغیر  اندھیری  کے  باپ  بچے  جہاں  ۔ 

بڑھنے پر مجبور ہوئے، اور بیوی زندگی کے باقی سال ایسے  

کی   جس  ہوگئی،  مجبور  پر  گزارنے  کر  لڑ  لیے  کے  شخص 

 کہیں خبر نہیں۔  

خاندان اس تضاد پر غور کرتا رہتا ہے جہاں حکومت ثبوتوں  

کا بوجھ اداروں پر ڈالتی ہے اور اس کے برعکس، کوئی نتیجہ  

وسیلہ   ریاست  خیز  اگر  کہ  ہیں  رہتے  سوچتے  وہ  نکلا۔  نہیں 

قابل کام کرنے کے  کیا رہ جاتا    مشکل  مقصد  کا  تو اس  ہو  نہ 

 ہے۔ 

ساجد کے والدین بوڑھے ہو چکے ہیں اور وہ ہر روز اسے  

یاد کرتے ہیں۔ اس کی بیٹیاں بڑی ہو چکی ہیں اور اس کی غیر  

کر   عبور  میل  سنگِ  مختلف  کے  زندگی  اپنی  میں  موجودگی 

 کی ہیں۔ چ

بیان کے مطابق؛ بیٹی کے  بہادر    اسُ کی  اپنے آپ کو  ’’میں 

نہیں سمجھتی،پھر بھی مجھے بہادری سے زندگی گزارنی ہے  

 ‘‘اور ہر کامیابی کو ڈرتے ڈرتے حاصل کرنا ہے ۔
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ساجد کی بیوی ایک نہ ختم ہونے والی جدوجہد میں مبتلا ہے  

میں   جائے، جس  دی  دستک  پر  دروازے  ہر  کہ  ہے  چاہتی  وہ 

ان   پر  طور  ممکنہ  ذہن  ہمارا  ہو۔  کرن  سی  ہلکی  کی  امید 

مصیبتوں کے بارے میں سوچنے سے خود کو روک نہیں سکتا  

سے   بہت  جیسے  اس  اور  پڑیں  سہنی  کو  خاندان  اس  کہ  جو 

یہ لوگ اس ظلم    دوسرے ہوا  ایسا  بھی،آخر کیوں  خاندانوں کو 

 کے مستحق تو نہ تھے۔ 
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 عبداللہ عمر

 ء 2015جون  19جبری گمشدگی کی تاریخ:  

 

ان   خاندان  سوگوار  اور  ہے  جاتا  اٹھایا  باپ  کا  بچے  ایک 

یا   آخری لمحات میں اس سے لوٹ آنے کا وعدہ   وہ کوئی بات 

ء میں اس وقت  2017بدالل کو  لیے بغیر پیچھے رہ جاتا ہے۔ ع

لیا گیا جب وہ رمضان کی دوسری رات تراویح پڑھنے گیا    اٹھا

 تھا۔ کیا وہ اس رات کبھی نا واپس آنے کے لیے گیا تھا؟ 

اس کے بعد سے اس کا کوئی اتہ پتہ نہیں ہے۔ اس کی بیوی  

زینب نے اپنے کزن کو فون کرنے کی کوشش کی جو اس کے  

نے  اس  اور جب  گیا  پریشانی سے    ساتھ  تو  اٹھایا  نہ  فون  بھی 

کی دعا کرتے    ہونے لگی۔ خاندان کے لوگ ان کی خیریت  پاگل

کے   خبروں  والے  دینے  ہلا  دل  اور  خوفناک  مگر  نکلے  باہر 

 ساتھ لوٹے ۔ 

  زینب یہ جاننے کے بعد کہ اس کے عزیز شریکِ حیات کو 

وہ   رہی۔  نہ  میں  حواسوں  اپنے  ہے،  گیا  کیا  گمشدہ  یاد  جبری 

کرتی ہیں، ’’جب میں نے محسوس کیا کہ میرے شوہرکے ساتھ  

گیا   ایسی جگہ لے جایا  ایک  ہوچکا ہے، اسے  خوفناک سانحہ 

ہے جسے کوئی نہیں جانتا تھا اور اس کے راستے بھی کسی  

کھانا نہ کھا سکی،    کو معلوم نہیں۔ میں ایک طویل عرصے تک 

پا سکی۔    نہ سو سکی اور نہ ہی خود میں کچھ کرنے کی ہمت 

میں صرف اپنی جائے نماز پر بیٹھ کر دن رات اس کی واپسی  

 کے لیے دعا کرتی۔“ 
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جب وہ ذہنی کشمکش سے نکلی اور اس کے دماغ نے کچھ  

کام کرنا شروع کیا تو وہ سب سے پہلے مقدمہ درج کرنے کے  

کی   عدالت  سے  باقاعدگی  وہ  گئی۔  اسٹیشن  پولیس  قریبی  لیے 

او ہوئی  شریک  میں  مکمل  سماعتوں  کارروائی  قانونی  تمام  ر 

کی، جہاں تک عبدالل کو دریافت کرنے کی کوششوں کا تعلق  

 ہے اس میں اس نے کوئی کسر نہیں چھوڑی۔ 

بتایا   نہیں  ایک طویل عرصے تک  کو  بیٹے  اپنے  نے  زینب 

اٹھوایا ہے۔ اسے اس کی   انٹیلی جنس نے  کہ اس کے والد کو 

’’اس کے وال بتایا کہ،  بیرونِ ملک تھے  ماں نے صرف یہی  د 

والد سے بات کرتی    کے   اور جب وہ سو جاتا ہے تو زینب اس

ہے“۔ گھر والے اس دن سے خوفزدہ تھے جب بیٹے کو حقیقت  

 کا پتا چلے گا۔ 

ابھی حال ہی میں بیٹے کے علم میں یہ بات آئی، جب خاندان  

کا مطالبہ کرنے   رہائی  متاثرین کی  نے جبری گمشدگیوں کے 

ر کے منعقد کردہ مظاہروں اور جلسوں میں  کے لیے ڈی ایچ آ

کرنے   بیان  کو  اثرات  دہ  تکلیف  اور  منفی  ان  کیا۔  شروع  جانا 

کے   والد  پر  ذہن  کے  بچے  اس  جو  ہیں  نہیں  الفاظ  لیے  کے 

وجود کی تکلیف دہ حقیقت کو جاننے سے پڑے ہوں گے۔ لہذا  

المیہ صرف اغوا شدہ کے بارے میں نہیں ہے بلکہ اس کے    یہ

بہبود اور ترقی کے بارے میں   ستہ ہر ایک کی فلاح وساتھ واب

 ہے۔ 

زینب باقاعدگی سے عدالت جاتی ہے، اس کی امید ختم نہیں  

چند  2018ہوئی۔   کو  ملزم  کہ  دیا  فیصلہ  نے  عدالت  میں،  ء 

دینا   استعفیٰ  کو  اعظم  وزیرِ  ورنہ  جائے  کیا  پیش  میں  مہینوں 
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ہوگی۔ لیکن کوئی    ادا کرنی  پڑے گا اور خاندان کو بھاری رقم

فائدہ نہیں ہوا، کیونکہ ابھی تک ملزم کو عدالت میں پیش کرنے  

کی کوئی خبر نہیں۔ اس فیصلے کے بعد کیس لڑتے ہوئے تین  

سال ہوچکے ہیں اور جہاں تک قانونی طریقوں سے عبدالل کے  

 لوٹ آنے کے امکانات کا تعلق ہے، کوئی امید نظر نہیں آتی۔ 
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 شاہالطاف علی 

 ء 2009ستمبر  19ہونے کی تاریخ:  جبری گمشدہ

 

’’میری ماں    مغوی کے بھائی الطاف علی شاہ کا کہنا ہے کہ

کی   بچے  اپنے  اسے  اور  ہے  روتی  سامنے  کے  الل  رات  ہر 

بحفاظت واپسی کے لیے دعا کرتی ہے ۔‘‘ الطاف علی شاہ کو  

کیا گیا۔    میں ان کے گھر سے والدین کے سامنے اغوا  ء2009

 نے انھیں اپنی زندگی کا سب سے بڑا صدمہ قراردیا۔ اس

وقت   اس  یونیورسٹی،    19وہ  مہران  اور  تھے  کے  سال 

نے   شخص  ایسے  کسی  انھیں  تھے۔  علم  طالبِ  میں  جامشورو 

پوچھ گچھ کے لیے بلایا جس نے اپنی شناخت ایک آرمی افسر  

کے طور پر کروائی )جہاں تک وہ جانتے تھے( اور اس کے  

 واپس نہیں آئے۔بعدوہ کبھی 

اس   تو  کیا  مذکورہ شخص سے رابطہ  نے  والد  ان کے  جب 

گیا اور کہا کہ وہ بغیر کسی وجہ کے    نے انھیں واپس بھیج دیا

اندر واپس آجائے گا، اسے   پریشان ہیں۔ الطاف کچھ وقت کے 

اپنے   نے  باپ  گیاہے۔  جایا  لے  لیے  کے  تفتیش  کچھ ضروری 

سے وادئ سوات تک کا طویل    چچا کے ہمراہ اپنے آبائی شہر

دریافت کرنے   میں  بارے  بیٹے کے  اپنے  اور  کیا  فاصلہ طے 

کے لیے ’آرمی‘ افسر سے باقاعدگی سے ملاقات کی لیکن ہر  

باقاعدگی سے   بار اسے وہی کہانی سنائی گئی۔ گھر والوں کو 

بتایا گیا کہ وہ واپس آئے گا لیکن کوئی فائدہ نہیں ہوا۔ آج ایک  

عرصہ گزر چکا ہے اور ابھی تک ان کا کوئی    دہائی سے زائد 

 نشان نہیں ہے۔ 
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ہیں اور پورا خاندان    12الطاف کو لاپتا ہوئے   سال ہوچکے 

اب تک انتظار میں ہے۔ خاندان کے ممبران اجتماعی طور پر  

 حکومت سے اپیل کرتے ہیں: 

”اسے سزا دیں، اگر اس نے کچھ غلط کیا ہے۔ لیکن کم از کم  

میں   عدالت  خلاف  اسے  کے  اس  اور  کریں  پیش  ثبوت  لائیں، 

 سرکاری طریقہ کار کےتحت فیصلہ کریں۔“ 

کرنے   بات  اس سے  دیکھنے،  بار  ایک  اسے صرف  خاندان 

اور اس کی موجودگی کو محسوس کرنے کی خواہش رکھتا ہے  

۔ عدالت کو لکھے گئے سرکاری خطوط میں، وہ نہ صرف اس  

ی ضمانت دینے  کی به حفاظت بازیابی کے لیے ضروری رقم ک

بھی   یہ دعویٰ  انہوں نے شدت سے  بلکہ  ہیں  ہوئے  پر راضی 

وہ  اگر  ‘  کیا ہے کہ  انصاف کے    ’مجرم  تو اسے  ہوتاہے  ثابت 

 تحت سب کے درمیان سزا دی جانی چاہیے ۔ 

کیونکہ صرف   ہوتی  نہیں  ختم  یہیں  جدوجہد  کی  خاندان  اس 

بھی  الطاف ہی نہیں بلکہ خاندان کے کچھ دوسرے ممبران کو  

الطاف کے   بنایا گیاہے۔ اس فہرست میں  انداز میں مغوی  اسی 

چچا   کے  اس  شاہ،  سلیم  اور  شاہ  علی  واجد  سعید،  عمر  کزن 

 روح الامین اور بہنوئی امین الشاہ شامل ہیں۔ 

کی   مسعود  آمنہ  چیئرپرسن  کی  رائٹس  ہیومن  آف  ڈیفنس 

میں  افراد  لاپتا  وجہ سے،  کی  کوششوں  مخلصانہ  اور    مسلسل 

کامیاب   میں  آنے  فردگھر واپس  نامی  شاہ  ایک واجد علی  سے 

ہے،   گیا  کیا  حاصل  جو  ہے  میل  سنگِ  ایک  یہ  اگرچہ  رہا۔ 

خاندان اب بھی غیر محفوظ ہے۔ آفتاب شاہ نے اس بات کا ذکر  

کی جانب سے ان کے خاندان کے    ’سیکورٹی ایجنسیوں ‘   کیا کہ
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ی ہیں ان کے  ہر لاپتا فرد کے حوالے سے جو ناانصافیاں کی گئ 

 متعلق ہر فرد کے لیے ایک مکمل کتاب لکھی جا سکتی ہیں۔ 

خاندان کے دیگر افراد ان کے پیاروں کے لیے مسلسل فراہم  

کیے جانے والےقانونی بیانیہ کے بارے میں شکوک و شبہات  

کا شکار ہیں اور انتہائی غیر محفوظ محسوس کرتے ہیں۔ آفتاب  

جو    -میں شامل ہو سکتا تھا شاہ، جو کسی بھی شدت پسند تنظیم  

اس کی بجائے محترمہ   -اس سے ان حالات میں ہمدردی کرتے 

دفاع   کے  حقوق  انسانی  اور  رہنمائی  کی  جنجوعہ  مسعود  آمنہ 

کی دیگر معاونت کے تحت ایک فعال انسانی حقوق کارکن بن  

میں   )تعداد  کو  لوگوں  دیگر  کے  سوات  درحقیقت  نے  اس  گیا۔ 

گمش  300 جبری  قریب(  مقدمات  کے  اپنے  خلاف  کے  دگیوں 

پر   میڈیا  اور سوشل  ویژن  ٹیلی  اور  بنایا  قابل  اندراج کے  کے 

 بھی ان کی آواز بن گیا۔ 

لیے   کے  شخص  ایسے  کرنا  تصور  کا  درد  کے  لوگوں  انُ 

سے   تجربات  تاریک  کے  طرح  اس  جو  ہوگا  فہم  ناقابل  بالکل 

ان، جو  دوچار نہ ہو ا ہو، خاص طور پر الطاف شاہ جیسے خاند 

دیتے   کھو  کو  کرلوگوں  ہو  شکار  کا  گمشدگیوں  جبری  مسلسل 

ہیں۔ یہ صرف ایک جان یا فرد کا نقصان نہیں ہے، بلکہ پورا  

ایک   ساتھ  مواقع کے  ترقیاتی  لیے محدود  خاندان شہریوں کے 

  تاریک دور میں واپس دھکیل دیا گیا ہے۔ 
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 انصاف دایو 

 ء 2017مئی  29جبری گمشدگی کی تاریخ:  

 

در ہے جن کے  یہ  کی  دایو  اقصیٰ  خاتون  ایک  کہانی  ناک  د 

بھائی انصاف دایو کو حیدرآباد، سندھ میں دن کی روشنی میں  

 زبردستی ان کی اپنی دکان سے اغوا کیا گیا تھا۔ 

اقصیٰ دایو نے بڑی بردباری سے بیان دیا کہ ”میرے بھائی  

کو  محلہ  2017مئی    29انصاف  نذر  کے  حیدرآباد  کو  ء 

ا۔میرا بھائی خاموشی سے اپنی دکان میں کام کر  سےاغوا کیا گی 

رہا تھا کہ اچانک ایک ویگو کار، تین پولیس اہلکاروں اور تین  

اور   رکی  سامنے  کے  دکان  سے  تیزی  کر،  لے  کو  شہریوں 

پر   اس  نے  دیا۔انہوں  کر  بڑھنا شروع  کی طرف  بھائی  میرے 

لپیٹنے سے   کپڑا  کالا  دھندلا  پر  اور اس کے چہرے  کیا  حملہ 

ما را تا کہ اسے یہ دیکھنے سے روک    لے اسے گن کا بٹ پہ 

سکے کہ کیا ہو رہا ہے۔ گاڑی کاانجن چالو کیا اور جائے وقعہ  

تھا جب کسی   دن  آخری  یہ  ہو گئے۔  غائب  میں  سے سیکنڈوں 

 نے کبھی میرے بھائی کا چہرہ دیکھا۔“ 

تقریبا   اور    4اس واقعے کو  اور    3سال  ہیں  ماہ گزر چکے 

د  نے  انصاف  آوروں  حملہ  کے  اس  اور  ہوا  کیا  ساتھ  کے  ایو 

اسے کیوں اغوا کیا اس کی کوئی وضاحت تک نہیں ہے۔ اقصیٰ  

ایک   میں  کورٹ  ہائی  نے  خانہ  اہل  کے  ان  کہ  بتایا  مزید  نے 

درخواست جمع کروائی ہے اور اس کیس کی سماعت آج بھی  

جاری ہے۔ ”ہم نے ہائی کورٹ میں ایک پٹیشن دائر کی ہے اور  

ایک مشترکہ  سم ہوتی ہے۔  بعد  دن  تیس  پندرہ سے  تقریباً  اعت 
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انکوائری   ٹیم تشکیل دی گئی جو اس وقت سے  انویسٹی گیشن 

لائی۔   نہیں  سامنے  چیز  کوئی  تک  اب  وہ  لیکن  ہے  رہی  کر 

ان   نے کس طرح  واقعے  اس  کہ  کیا  انکشاف  مزید  نے  اقصیٰ 

و  کی ماں کو اذیت دی اور ان کے خاندان کی ذہنی تندرستی ک

کی   والدہ  میری  بعد،  واقعے کے  خوفناک  ”اس  پہنچایا۔  نقصان 

میں   ذیابیطس  ہی  پہلے  جو  ہے  ہوگئی  خراب  انتہائی  طبیعت 

پڑا،   کرنا  سامنا  بھی  کا  جھٹکے  ذہنی  شدید  انھیں  تھیں۔  مبتلا 

جس کے بعد ہمیں انہیں ایک ہسپتال میں داخل کروانا پڑا جہاں  

ی اپنی جسمانی اور ذہنی  بالآخر چھ ماہ کا طویل علاج ہوا۔ میر

صحت خراب ہو گئی ہے اور میری چھوٹی بہن، جو عام طور  

اور   دباؤ  ذہنی  ہے، شدید  ہوتی  ساتھ  میرے  میں  احتجاج  ہر  پر 

 تکلیف سے گزر رہی ہے۔ “

ہیں کہ، اور عزیز اس    وہ کہتی  پیارا  بہت  کا  جب کوئی آپ 

طرح گم ہو جاتا ہے تو اس کے نقصانات ضرور ہوتے ہیں جو  

ہم  ہ بعد  کے  اغوا  کے  بھائی  ”میرے  ہے۔  رہا  دیکھ  کوئی  ر 

ہو   لاپتا  عزیز  کوئی  جب  یقیناً  ہیں۔  پریشان  اور  غمزدہ  انتہائی 

جاتا ہے تو اس کے خاندان کے افراد کی زندگی آسان نہیں ہو  

تی۔ انھیں ہمیشہ مشکلات کا سامنا کرنا پڑتا ہے اور تکلیف اور  

خاندان   ان کے  ہیں۔“  رہتے  میں  اداروں سے  اذیت  ریاستی  کو 

تو   گیا  پوچھا  میں  بارے  کے  تعاون  اور  معاونت  والی  ملنے 

ریاستی اداروں سے    کن لہجے میں بتایا کہ   اقصیٰ دایو نے ماتم 

 کبھی کوئی امداد نہیں ملی۔ 

”انصاف کے اغوا کے اگلے ہی دن میرا بڑا بھائی تھانے گیا   

جہاں ایک افسر سے ملاقات کی جس نے صرف چند بہانے بنا  

کہ   بتایا  نے  افسران  پولیس  اعلیٰ  ہمیں  کیا  رخصت  اسے  کر 
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خفیہ   والی  کرنے  کام  پر  طور  خفیہ  کچھ  کو  بھائی  ہمارے 

جاج کا  ایجنسیوں نے اغوا کر لیا ہے اور ہمیں اس کے لیے احت

بندوبست کرنا شروع کر دینا چاہیے۔ میرے بھائی کی تلاش میں  

مختلف شہروں اور علاقوں کا دورہ کیا اور بے حساب احتجاج  

کیا، لیکن ہم نے ابھی تک اپنی جدوجہد کا ثمر حاصل نہیں کیا  

میرا بھائی ابھی تک لاپتا ہے اور خدا جانتا ہے کہ وہ کہاں    -

نہ  ہی  دایو  اقصیٰ  کا  ہے۔ صرف  ہونے  حاصل  انصاف  جو  یں 

اور   متاثرین  شمار  بے  میں  ملک  ہمارے  ہیں،  رہی  کر  انتظار 

حسی   بے  سے  کی طرف  اداروں  کے  ریاست  جو  ہیں  خاندان 

کی وجہ سے ازیت گزار رہے ہیں ۔ لہٰذا یہ کہنا مناسب ہے کہ  

کوئی   جب  اور  ہے،  انصاف  چیز  اہم  سے  سب  میں  معاشرے 

قاصر  کرنے سے  فراہم  یہ  اور    معاشرہ  تباہی  وہ  تو  ہے،  ہوتا 

 بربادی کی راہ پر گامزن ہوتا ہے۔“ 
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 محمد ایوب کاندھرو 

 ء2017اپریل  28جبری گمشدگی کی تاریخ:  

 

کیا ہے   بیان  لڑکی نے  نامی  کاندھرو  ماروی  کو  واقعے  اس 

جس کے والد جناب ایوب کاندھرو کو رانی پور، گمبھٹ قومی  

کچھ   پر  جبری  شاہراہ  پر  طور  قانونی  غیر  نے  افراد  نامعلوم 

کو   کاندھرو  ایوب  والد  کے  ماروی  ۔  دیا  کر  اپریل    28گمشدہ 

سال سے زائد عرصہ گزر    4کو اغوا کیا گیا تھا، اور    ء2017

چکا ہے، لیکن ایوب کاندھرو ابھی تک کسی جیل کی کوٹھری  

نہیں پائے گئے۔ وہ نہ جانی کہاں اور کس کی نگرانی میں    میں 

 قید ہیں۔ 

ان کی بیٹی ماروی کاندھرو کے مطابق، ایوب ایک سرکاری  

ملازم تھے جو اس قوم کے شہریوں کی خدمت کے لیے سخت  

تھے، رہے  کر  تھے    محنت  ملازم  سرکاری  ایک  والد  ”میرے 

جو سندھ کے پبلک ہیلتھ ڈیپارٹمنٹ میں کام کرتے تھے۔ ان کے  

والد  میرے  کی طرح،  ہمیشہ  دن،  کام    اغوا کے  صبح سویرے 

کے لیے روانہ ہوئے۔ کوئی نہیں جانتا تھا کہ انہیں جبری طور  

الوداع کہہ رہے   بار  انہیں آخری  ہم  اور  گا  پر لاپتہ کیا جائے 

ہیں۔“ انہوں نے مزید بتایا، ”جب ہمیں پتا چلا کہ میرے والد کو  

اغوا کر لیا گیا ہے، ہم ایک سرکاری شکایت درج کروانے کے  

ٹیشن گئے لیکن ان کی طرف سے کوئی مناسب  لیے پولیس اس

ہائیکورٹ میں ایک   ہم نے سندھ  ہوا۔ پھر  جواب موصول نہیں 

درخواست دائر کی۔ ہائیکورٹ اور قانونی مدد حاصل کرنے کا  
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 واحد نتیجہ یہ ہے کہ یہ کیس آج تک جاری ہے۔“ 

پولیس ان کے کیس کی پیروی   ماروی کاندھرو کے مطابق، 

 پی نہیں لیتی تھی۔ کرنے میں بالکل دلچس

سے   لگانے  چکر  کے  عدالتوں  اور  تھانوں  بار  بار  کے  ان 

بھی   اب  کاندھرو  ایوب  ہوا۔  نہیں  فائدہ  کوئی  لیے  کے  خاندان 

’’لاپتہ شخص“  کے    ایک  ان  حیثیت  ’’نامعلوم“  کی  ان  اور  ہیں 

افراد کے لیے ہر طرح کی اذیت اور تکلیف لاتی   خاندان کے 

 ہے۔ 

کی   مسئلے  اس  نے  ہم  سے،  سالوں  چار  ساڑھے  ’’پچھلے 

طرف ریاستی حکام اور عوام کی توجہ دلانے کے لیے سندھ  

بھر کے مختلف شہروں میں کئی احتجاجی مظاہرے کیے، لیکن  

 ہماری ہر کوشش رائیگاں گئی۔ “  

نہیں معلوم کہ میرے    اس نے مزید کہا کہ،  ابھی تک  ’’ہمیں 

کی غلط  کیا  نے  کی وجہ  والد  ہے جس  کیا  کا جرم  ان  یا  ہے  ا 

سے انہیں بغیر کسی عدالتی حکم کے مسلسل اذیت اور اذیت کا  

نشانہ بنایا جا رہا ہے۔ نہ پولیس اور نہ ہی عدلیہ اس پر راضی  

ہے۔ بتاؤ میرے والد نے کیا جرم کیا، کیا اس ملک میں انصاف  

ہوتا ہے؟ کیا اس قوم کے محنتی شہریوں کے ساتھ   اس طرح 

ایسا سلوک کیا جاتا ہے؟ “ یہ کچھ چیخیں اور سوالات ہیں جو  

نہ صرف ماروی بلکہ ہر دوسرے متاثرہ اور اس کے اہل خانہ  

پریشان   کو  سب  تک  آج  جو  ہیں  گئے  پوچھے  ذریعہ  کے 

 کررہے ہیں۔ 

تاہم، بدقسمتی سے، یہ رلا دینے والے سوالات اب بھی جواب  

انون نافذ کرنے والے  ’’ہم نے کئی این جی اوز اور ق  طلب ہیں۔ 
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کی   حکام  ہمیشہ  ہمیں  تاہم،  ہے،  کیا  رابطہ  بھی  سے  اداروں 

جانب سےٹال مٹول کی جاتی ہے اور وہاں سے جانے کے لیے  

کہا جاتا ہے۔ یہی وجہ ہے کہ میں پاکستان کے وزیر اعظم اور  

کرتی   اپیل  کی  لینے  نوٹس  کا  معاملے  اس  پاکستان سے  صدر 

 ہ کریں۔ ہوں اور کم از کم ہمیں آگا 

کی وجہ سے میں جو میرے والد نے نہیں کی ہے۔   اس غلطی

پر   طور  جذباتی  اور  نفسیاتی  میں  موجودگی  غیر  کی  اس  ہم 

 تکلیف اٹھا رہے ہیں۔ “ 

نے   ماروی  باوجود،  کے  روی  سست  کی  عدلیہ  اور  پولیس 

اپنے والد کو معمول کی زندگی میں واپس لانے کے لیے اپنی  

ی ہے ۔وہ اب بھی اس معاملے پر  مسلسل کوششوں میں لگی ہوئ

کی   حقوق  انسانی  کئی  اور  ہے  ہوئے  رکھے  جاری  احتجاج 

تنظیموں اور اداروں سے مدد مانگتی ہے تاکہ اس کے والد کو  

 واپس لانے کے عزم میں اس کی مدد کی جا سکے۔ 
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 محمد اسد اللہ

 ء 2012ستمبر  4جبری گمشدگی کی تاریخ:  

 

ہیں، اگرچہء سے ا2001زاہدہ شاہین   پہلے    وکاڑہ میں مقیم 

رہتی  میں  علاقوں  مختلف  اور    -تھی وہ  مضبوط  آواز  کی  ان 

وہ اپنے بیٹے محمد اسد الل کے بارے میں بتاتی    -پرعزم ہے  

پڑا، کرنا  سامنا  کا  گمشدگی  جبری  کو  جن  میں    ہیں  لاہور  وہ 

پہلے   تھے۔  اور    ACCAرہتے  پر،  علم کے طور  طالبِ  کے 

بعد میں، ایک ٹیوٹر کے طور پر۔ وہ تعلیم حاصل کرنے کے  

 کر سکیں ۔  MAلیے پیسے جمع کر رہے تھے تاکہ  

کے   بیٹی  ایک  اور  بیٹوں  دو  اپنے  میں  اوکاڑہ  شاہین  زاہدہ 

کی بیٹی لاہور ہائی کورٹ ملازمت کرتی    ساتھ رہتی ہیں ، ان 

ہوا ہے۔۔ ایک دن  یہ پورا خاندان پریشان  -ہے ی کی تصویر بنا 

جب زاہدہ کو اپنے بیٹے کی طرف سے کوئی خبر نہیں ملی تو  

لاہور   اور  ہے  گیا  مارا  چھاپہ  پر  احاطے  کہ  ہوا  معلوم  اسے 

موٹر   کی  اس  کو  بیٹے  کے  اس  کہ  ہوا  معلوم  اسے  کر  پہنچ 

 سائیکل سمیت اغوا کر لیا گیا ہے۔ 

لکھا اور اپنی تفصیلات بتائیں۔  زاہدہ نے آمنہ مسعود کو خط  

اس کے بعد ایف آئی آر کی درخواست کی گئی۔ تاہم، زاہدہ کا  

نہیں   تفصیلات کے مطابق درج  آر اصل  آئی  ایف  کہنا ہے کہ 

پڑوسیوں اور احاطے کے مالک    کی گئی۔ اسد الل کے گواہوں، 

میں   کمیشن  لیکن  ہے۔  ہوا  واقعہ  یہ  کہ  کی  تصدیق  نے  مکان 

کے کہنے پر ان شہادتوں کو خارج کر دیا اور    حکام نے پولیس

 –اصل حقائق کو کاٹ کر کمیشن کے سامنے پیش کیا گیا 
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کمیشن کے سربراہ جسٹس )ریٹائرڈ( جاوید اقبال کا کہنا ہے  

 کہ انہوں نے یہ کیس حکومت کے سپرد کر دیا ہے۔ 

زاہدہ    -سال کا عرصہ گزرچکا ہے    8اسدالل کو لاپتہ ہوئے  

 جبری گمشدگی کی چشم دید گواہ ہیں۔  اپنے بیٹے کی 

زاہدہ جب دوسرے لاپتہ افراد کے لواحقین سے ملتی ہیں تو  

امید   یہ  لیکن  ہے۔  ہوتا  احساس  کا  چارے  بھائی  اور  امید  انہیں 

بھی اب دم توڑ گئی ہے۔ کیونکہ کمیشن نے ان کا کیس خارج  

جسٹس   سربراہ  کے  پرکمیشن  پوچھنے  ہے،وجہ  دیا  کر 

حکومت کو منتقل    ’’فائل   اقبال کا کہنا تھا کہ ،   )ریٹائرڈ( جاوید 

 کر دی گئی ہے۔“ 

تھا   اپنے خاندان کا واحد کمانے والا  ایک محنتی،    –اسد الل 

باضمیر، اور فکری طور پر متجسس نوجوان۔ زاہدہ کو بحثیت  

بیٹی جو  اس کی    ماں بھی بے شمار مسائل کا سامنہ ہے کیونکہ

اپنے  ہے،  وابسطہ  سے  شعبے  میں    قانونی  بازیابی  کی  بھائی 

اس بھی  گھر  کا  زاہدہ  سکی۔  کر  نہں  ادا  کردار    کے   کوئی 

چھوٹے بیٹے کے نام حکم امتناعی میں ہے۔ کمانے والے بیٹے  

کے نہ ہونے کی وجہ سے زاہدہ مالی طور پر بھی مشکلات کا  

 ۔شکار ہے

 

اذیت    کی  افراد  خاندان کے  میں  سنگین حالات  اس طرح کے 

پریشان  کیا  اور  بیان  میں  الفاظ  ان  نے  زاہدہ  کو  احساس  کے  ی 

نہیں آتی!“  یہ    ہے، ’’سب کچھ ختم ہو گیا ہے، کوئی امید نظر 

ہے جو اس طرح کی مشکلات سے گزرنے والے    وہ ہی   پیغام

 لوگوں کا ہو تا ہے 
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ایک ہی حل ہے کہ، ’’اکٹھے ہو جائیں اور ایک گروہ کے طور  

کہ انفرادی طور پر،    لڑیں، نہ   پر ڈی ایچ آر کے جھنڈے تلے 

 دباؤ ڈالیں اور اپنے مطالبات منوا لیں۔   حکومت پر واقعی تاکہ
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 شبیر احمد

 ء 2016اکتوبر  4جبری گمشدگی کی تاریخ:  

 

کی بہن   سیما شبیر احمد، جوکہ جبری گمشدگی کا شکارشبیر 

ہے وہ اپنے بھائی کی کہانی بیان کرتی ہے ۔ اسُ کا بھائی شبیر  

ء کو چھٹی پر ترُبَت  2016اکتوبر    4احمد اپنی بیوی کے ساتھ  

اسے   اور  تھا  گیا۔    25گیا  لیا  ساتھ گرفتار کر  افراد کے  دیگر 

بلوچستان کے ضلع   گیا۔  دیا  رہا کر  کو  پھر اس کے سوا سب 

اپنی   نے  سیما  ہوئے  کرتے  سفر  سے  گھر  اپنے  میں  آواران 

وہ کروائی۔  درج  آر  آئی  ایف  ہمراہ  کے  کہ    بھابھی  ہیں  کہتی 

پولیس نے ایف سی پرسنل کے خلاف ایف آئی آر درج کرنے  

کی   تصدیق  نے  بھابھی  کی  سیما  کہ  جیسا  کردیا،  انکار  سے 

تھی۔ انہوں نے کوئٹہ جانے کے بعد ہائی کورٹ میں درخواست  

 دی۔ کئی اپیلوں کے بعد اور کمیشن برائے جبری گمشدگی کو 

ایف آئی آر حال ہی    کروا نے کے بعد ، پولیس نے   شکایت درج 

 میں درج کی۔

دو   پر  خاندان  اس  المیہ  یہ  والا  کرنے  بےبس  کو  حقین  لوا 

ء سیما کے کزن جو کہ دبئی سے چھٹی پر آیا  2013مرتبہ آیا۔

نے   آفت  اس  تھا۔  اٹھایا  پتوکی سے  ایجنسیوں نے  کو   ، تھا  ہوا 

 انھیں اچانک آ لیا تھا۔ 

قسم ہے۔ وہ کہیں  کی سب سے گھناؤنی    جبری گمشدگی ظلم 

عوام   بھی کسی کے ساتھ بھی ہو سکتا ہے، اور ان کی یاد کو

کے ذہنوں سے نکال دیا جاتا ہے۔ کوئی نہیں جانتا کہ وہ کبھی  

٢٩ 



   

موجود تھے اور سیما کے بھائی کے ساتھ بھی یہی ہوا، لیکن  

 سیما نے ہمت نہیں ہاری۔ 

کی۔   کوشش  کی  ملاقات  سے  بلوچستان  وزیرِاعلیٰ  نے  سیما 

ل ہی میں، وہ مارچ میں اسلام آباد گئیں، وزیرِاعظم عمران  حا

خان سے ملاقات کی۔ چھ مہینے ہوچکے ہیں جب انہوں نے ان  

متاثرین کو ان کی بازیابی کے لیے تسلی دی، لیکن اس کے بعد  

کوئی پیش رفت نہیں ہوئی۔ کمیشن کی سماعتوں میں بھی یہی  

رتی ہیں، جس میں  مایوس کن رویہ رہا۔ سیما ایک واقعہ بیان ک

کی   بھائی  اپنے  سال  پانچویں  مسلسل  سے  کمیشن  نے  انھوں 

کی   کمیشن  میں  بلوچستان  پر  بات  اس  اٹھایا۔  سوال  پر  بازیابی 

انھیں جھڑک   الرحمان نے  سربراہی کرنے والے جسٹس فضل 

دیا۔ کمیشن کے اراکین کی جانب سے ہمدردی اور دیانت دارانہ  

ظل  جیسی  گمشدگی  جبری  کہ  جو  وقت  لگن  کے  نمٹنے  سے  م 

 ناپید ہوچکی ہے۔ ،  درکار ہوتی ہے

والی   لڑنے  لیے  کے  بھائی  اپنے  ہوئے  ہوتے  عورت  وہ 

بوڑھے   کہ کس طرح  ہے،  کرتی  بیان  بھی  کو  داستان  المناک 

کی   لوگوں  دیگر  اور  عمائدین  قبائلی  پڑوسیوں،  داروں،  رشتہ 

سنگین   کے  بولنے  لیے  کے  بھائی  اپنے  اسے  نے  دھمکیوں 

سے  آ    نتائج  پیش  پر  طور  ممکنہ  اسے  جو  ہے  کیا  خبردار 

کے   خطرے  کے  جان  کی  بھائیوں  چھوٹے  اپنے  ہیں۔۔  سکتے 

سبب اسے ایک سال تک خاموش رہنا پڑا، لیکن وہ اپنے والدین  

کو اپنی سب سے بڑی طاقت کے طور پر بھی بیان کرتی ہے،  

جو اس سماجی دباؤ سے باہر نکلے اور اسے لڑتے رہنے کی  

 دیتے ہیں۔ہمیشہ ہمت 
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 حمد اسلمم

 ء2015جبری گمشدگی کی تاریخ:  

 

اسماء کا خاندان ایک دکھی خاندان ہے، ان کی آواز کمزور  

اسحاق،   ۔ حاجی محمد  ہیں  بلند  ان کے حوصلے  بھی  پھر  ہے 

ء میں بندوق کی  2015محمد اسلم کے والد ہیں۔ محمد اسلم کو  

گیا   کیا  اغوا  پر  پرجبری طور  کی  نوک  اس  خاندان  کا  تھا۔اس 

خاندان   سا  چھوٹا  ایک  یہ  ہے۔  مشتمل  پر  والدہ  اور  والد  بہن، 

کا   اور خاندان  بلوچستان کے ضلع قلات میں رہتا ہے،  ہےجو 

ناقابلِ تلافی نقصان کا سامنا کر رہا   اپنے طور پر اس  ہر فرد 

اتنے   کا کہنا ہے وہ جزباتی طور پر  ہے۔ حاجی محمد اسحاق 

و اپنا کوئی ہوش نہیں کہ وہ مسجد میں، گھر پر  دکھی ہیں ان ک 

سے   اقتدار  اہلِ  اوروہ  ہیں۔  رہتے  پڑتے  گرتے  پر  سڑکوں  یا 

 التجا کرتے ہیں کہ انہیں ان کا بیٹا لوٹا دیں 

متاثرہ خاندان کے ساتھ گفتگوکے دوران بار بارایک ہی جملہ  

 ’’ سُوْلُ سننے کو ملا ،  دُالرا مُحَما اِلاا الل  الِٰـہَ  “، زمین پر الل  الل  لَا 

 کی وحدانیت کا اعلان ہے۔  

حاجی محمد اسحاق بلوچستان کےعظیم سیاسی لیڈر، سردار  

عطاء الل مینگل کے پاس بھی گئے اور ان کو اپنی درخواست  

 پیش کی، لیکن کوئی تسلی بخش جواب نہیں ملا۔ 

محمد اسلم کی والدہ بیمار ہو کر بستر سے لگ چکی ہیں اور  

  وہ دعا کرتی ہیں کہ مرنے سے پہلے  شکار رہتی ہیں۔  تنہائی کا 

 اپنے بیٹے دیکھ سکیں ۔

٣١ 



   

محمد   ہے۔  نہیں  موجود  کوئی  لیے  کے  مدد  کی  خاندان  اس 

اسلم نے اپنی منگیتر کو کھو دیا، جس نے اس کی گمشدگی کے  

بعد معذرت کر لی۔ حاجی اسحاق کا کہنا ہے کہ ایسا محسوس  

د  بیٹی  اور  بیٹے  ان کے  تنہا چھوڑ  ہوا جیسے  انھیں  ونوں نے 

دیا ہے۔ بیٹے کی گمشدگی کے بعد سب نے منہ موڑ لیا جیسے  

 ہر تعلق صرف محمد اسلم کی وجہ سے تھا۔ 

ہے،   پیغام  ایک  صرف  لیے  کے  حکومت  کا  اسحاق  محمد 

 واپس دے دو۔ مجھے اور کچھ نہیں چاہیے۔“   ’’میرے بیٹے کو

بتایا کہ وہ  محمد اسحاق کے بعد محمد اسلم کی بہن اسماء نے 

لوگ سخت معاشی مشکلات کا شکار ہیں اور مزید بتایا کہ تمام  

 برادری نے انسےقطع تعلق کر لیا ہے ۔ 

جو   ڈالی  روشنی  بھی  پر  مسائل  انگیز  اشتعال  ان  نے  اسماء 

گمشدگی کا باعث بنے۔ اسماء کا کہنا ہے کہ اس کے بھائی کے  

اور اس    آفس کے ارد گرد جبری گمشدگیوں کا سلسلہ جاری تھا

تھی، لیکن اس    نے اپنے بھائی سے اس بارےمیں بات بھی کی

نے اسے یقین دلایا تھا کہ جو لوگ معصوم ہیں انھیں خوفزدہ  

آیا   نہیں ہے۔ کچھ دن بعد اسے فون  ہونے کی کوئی ضرورت 

بھائی کو بھی اغوا کر لیا گیا ہے۔ اسماء نے قرآن    کے  کہ اس

منی ہے جو کسی نے اس  کی قسم کھائی اور کہا کہ یہ ذاتی دش

 کے بھائی سےکی ہے۔ 

ہمارے   خاندان  پورا  ہمارا  ’’گویا  ہے،  کہتی  میں  آخر  اسماء 

بھائی کے ساتھ لاپتہ ہو گیا ہے۔ یہ صرف ہمارا بھائی ہی نہیں  

ہے جو اغوا ہوا ہے، یہ ہمارا پورا خاندان ہے جسے مٹا دیا گیا  

 ہے۔“ 
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 سمیع اللہ اور امان اللہ

 ء 2017دسمبر   8جبری گمشدگی کی تاریخ:  

 

لگتا   ایک طویل عرصہ گزر چکا ہے مگر  اس گمشدگی کو 

ہے کہ جیسے کل ہی کی بات ہو۔ایک طویل عرصہ قبل لاپتا،  

لیکن اتنا ہی تکلیف دہ جیسا کہ ایک دن پہلے ہوا تھا۔ درد کی  

تپش وقت کے ساتھ ختم نہیں ہوتی، بلکہ یہ وقت کے ساتھ مزید  

تیار کر لیتی ہے۔ خیبر پختونخوا کے ضلعے مہمند، کا  شدت اخ

دیا   رہائشی سمیع الل بغیر کسی نشان کے ’جبری گمشدہ‘ قرار 

ء کو لاپتا ہوا اور اس وقت سے  2017دسمبر،    8گیا ہے۔ وہ  

سال سے زائد کا عرصہ گزر چکا ہے۔ اس دوران،    4اب تک  

ر اس کی  اس کے چار بچے ؛ ذبیح الل، فاتحہ، سدرہ، رقیہ، او 

اور   سماجی  معاشی،  ساتھ،  کے  خاندان  باقی  کے  اس  بیوی، 

دوچار سے  بدحالی  ان   نفسیاتی  کہ  ہے  مشکل  جاننا  یہ  ہوئے۔ 

 میں سے کون سی زندگی سب سے زیادہ متاثر ہوئی۔ 

جب کوئی مغوی شخص سے وابستہ متاثرہ افراد اور اس پر  

انحصار کرنے والوں کی فہرست پر نظر ڈالتا ہے تو معلوم ہوتا  

ہے کہ گویا پورا خاندان اپنا چہرہ، اپنی شناخت کھو چکا ہے۔  

ان چاروں بچوں نے بچپن سے ہی تکالیف برداشت کیں اور اب  

یا مدد  معاشی  کسی  بغیر  وہ  ہیں۔  رہے  کر  کے    تک  سہارے 

تعلیمی   تنہائی کو برداشت کرتے رہے۔ وہ  بیماری، جدائی اور 

انُ   ہیں۔ یہ صورتِ حال  ہو رہے  بغیر بڑے  مراحل طے کیے 

اور   مایوسی  والی  لینے  جنم  سبب  کے  گمشدگیوں  کی  افراد 

  ہوتا  کا انحصار شکستگی کو عیاں کرتی ہے،جس پرتمام خاندان
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 ظاہر کرتی ہے۔  ہے ساتھ ہی اس جرم کے وحشی پن کو بھی

پاس   کے  ان  لیکن  ہیں،  اور  بھائی  چھ  علاوہ  کے  الل  سمیع 

خاندانی کاروبار نہیں ہے۔ سمیع الل کے والد کو دل کا دورہ پڑا  

انتقال کر گئے۔ اس کی ماں   اور وہ سمیع الل کی خبر سن کر 

ڈپریشن اوربیماری کا شکار ہے، اور اس کی ایک وجہ یہ بھی  

کو اپنی زندگی کے اس آخری لمحات میں  ہے کہ وہ اپنے بیٹے  

نہیں دیکھ پائے گی۔ اس سب کے بعد بھی سمیع الل کا خاندان  

ایک   سے  میں  ان  ہے۔  رہتا  لڑتا  سے  مشکلات  کی  قسم  ہر 

معاشرے کی بےاعتنا رویہ ہے اور دوسری وہ مالی مشکلات  

ہوتا   ایسا محسوس  ہے۔  غم  یقیناً  تیسرا  ہے۔  سامنا  انھیں  کا  جن 

سے اس واقعہ نے انھیں تنہا کردیا ہو، گویا وہ ایک  ہے کہ جی 

زندہ کر  آپ  اوراپنے  ہیں،  رہے  رہ  میں  کرنے    خلا  محسوس 

 سے قاصر ہوں۔ 

ء کو  2014دوسری طرف، سمیع الل کا کزن بھی یکم اکتوبر  

نام امان الل ہے۔ اس کے بھی چار   جبری گمشدہ ہوگیا، اس کا 

اور عبدالعزیز،  فرمان،  رحمان،  ہیں؛  بھی    بچے  وہ  ماروہ۔ 

مناسب تعلیم کے بغیر بڑے ہو رہے ہیں۔ امان الل کا کوئی بھائی  

نہیں ہے۔ در حقیقت، وہ اپنے خاندان کا اکلوتا بیٹا ہے، اور اس  

کی گمشدگی نے اس کے خاندان پر ایک شدید اثرات چھوڑے  

 ہیں۔ 

کو   خاندان  اس  نے  واقعات  دو  ایسے  میں  خاندان  ہی  ایک 

مفلوج کردیا ہے، سب ٹھیک کچھ ہونے کی امید دم توڑ چکی  

کا   ریاست  ہے۔  آتی  نہیں  نظر  راہ  کوئی  کی  انصاف  اور  ہے 

خنجر ہمیشہ ان کے سر کے اوپر لٹکا رہتا ہے، اور اس کا دباؤ  
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ے ساتھ  خاندان ایک دوسرے ک  بڑھتا رہتا ہے۔ اس وقت، یہ دو 

دیا   کر  دخل  بے  کو  ان  نے  باقی سب  جبکہ  ہیں،  ہوئے  جڑے 

ہے۔ یہاں مایوسی الفاظ سے بالاتر ہے۔ یہ المیہ جو کہ ایک ہی  

خاندان پرگزرا ہے، دفاعی نظام اور عدالتی عمل کی ناکامی کا  

خاندانوں سے   کے  ان  کو  )مغوین(  جوان  ہے،  ثبوت  بولتا  منہ 

جب کہ انصاف کی فراہمی انُ   دوبارہ ملانے میں ناکام رہا ہے ۔

دونوں افراد اور ان کے خاندانوں کے لیے نئی اور بہتر زندگی  

 گزارنے کا ایک نیا موقع بن سکتی تھی۔
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